IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

LINDA HAGAN, BARBARA PARKER and WILLIE PARKER,

Petitioners,

-VS-

CASE NO. SC00-287

COCA-COLA BOTTLING COMPANY, et al.,

Respondents.	

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Donald N. Watson, Esq.
Linda L. Weiksnar, Esq.
GARY, WILLIAMS, PARENTI,
FINNEY, LEWIS, McMANUS,
WATSON & SPERANDO, P.A.
Waterside Professional Bldg.
221 E. Osceola Street
Stuart, FL 34994
and
CARUSO, BURLINGTON,
BOHN & COMPIANI, P.A.
1615 Forum Place, Ste. 3A
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
(561) 686-8010

Attorneys for Petitioners

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

Petitioners hereby certify that the type size and style used in this brief is 14 point Times New Roman.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs Linda and Dobie Hagan¹ and Barbara and Willie Parker filed a Complaint (R1-7) alleging damages, both physical and mental, arising out of the consumption by Linda Hagan and Barbara Parker of soda from a Coca-Cola bottle

¹/Dobie Hagan was no longer a party to the case by the time of trial.

which they later discovered "contained a used condom with 'white, stringy stuff' coming out of it." (R3). The case eventually proceeded to a two-day trial wherein Plaintiffs sought damages for the negligent infliction of emotional distress. At the close of Plaintiffs' evidence, Defendant moved for a directed verdict, arguing that Plaintiffs had failed to prove any impact under Florida law and that even if they had, they had failed to prove actual exposure to the HIV virus (T2 32-6). The motion was denied (T2 52), but renewed at the close of all the evidence (T2 94-6), and again denied (T2 96). However, the trial court did rule that Plaintiffs' claim for damages due to the fear of contracting AIDS would be limited only to the time which elapsed between the incident and their second AIDS test which proved negative (T2 130-1).

At the end of trial, the jury awarded Linda Hagan and Barbara Parker each \$75,000 "+ medical bills," and Willie Parker \$20,000 on his consortium claim (R232-4). The trial court later denied Defendant's post-trial renewed motion for directed verdict and for new trial, but granted a remittitur, reducing the verdicts to \$25,000 each to Linda Hagan and Barbara Parker and \$8,000 for Willie Parker (R293-6).

Defendant appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeal, its main arguments being that Plaintiffs cannot recover damages for emotional distress resulting from a fear of contracting AIDS without a discernable physical injury because of Florida's

impact rule, and that based on case law in other states, Plaintiffs should not be able to claim emotional distress for fear of developing AIDS without proof of actual injury or, at least, actual exposure to the HIV virus. On appeal, the judgment was reversed, COCA-COLA BOTTLING CO. v. HAGAN, 24 Fla.L.Weekly D2688 (Fla. 5th DCA December 3, 1999), but two members of the panel joined in certifying the following question to this Court as one of great public importance:

SHOULD THE IMPACT RULE BE ABOLISHED OR AMENDED IN FLORIDA?

This proceeding follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On September 18, 1992, Linda Hagan was working at the Hastings Academy Day Care in Hastings, Florida, which was operated by her sister, Barbara Parker (T1 65, 113). Hagan had a BS in Political Science and History, and also had 30 hours of child training and HRS training (T1 65). On her lunch break she went to a convenient store and bought a Sprite and two Cokes. Upon her return to the school, she gave one of the Cokes to her sister (T1 66). When Hagan bought the Coke, the seal on the

bottle had been intact (T1 108-109).² Parker opened it in her office and poured some of the soda into a cup (T1 88-89, 115). Parker said that it tasted flat, and Hagan responded that it was probably just warm. Parker insisted that there was something wrong with the soda, that something was in it, and insisted that Hagan taste it (T1 66-67, 115). When Hagan tasted it, it tasted flat, like water with no carbonation (T1 67, 90).

Hagan took the bottle into the bathroom next to Parker's office and put it up to the light, where she saw something floating in it that looked like an open balloon, and said "that's a condom." (T1 67-8, 92). Hagan said that the "condom was white-looking, beige, from the color of the Coke, so maybe that had distorted the color a little bit. And the solution or whatever coming out of the condom was a snotty, oozy-like, stringy-like something coming out the condom." (T1 90). She became "nauseated, really sick and scared, because I didn't know what that meant for me, my health-wise and stuff," and panicked (T1 68). The women decided they needed to call the health department (T1 68-69, 117). The school usually closed between 5:00 p.m. and 5:30 p.m., and although Plaintiffs called the health department right after lunch,

²/The parties stipulated that the Coke (Joint Exhibit 1) was bottled by Florida Coca-Cola Bottling Company in May 1992 in Hollywood, Florida, and that at the time it was bottled and sealed, it was under the sole possession of Florida Coca-Cola Bottling Company (T1 63).

by 6:00 p.m. no one had come, so they left the bottle on Parker's desk, and went home (T1 69).

The incident occurred on a Friday, and Hagan testified that during the weekend she and her sister went to the emergency room, where they met a police officer, a doctor and two nurses (T1 70-71). They gave the officer a statement regarding what happened the day before (T1 71). They were given a shot in the emergency room, and the doctor advised them to go to the health department and to take an HIV test (T1 71). At the health department, the women were asked personal questions about how many sex partners they had had, how often they engaged in sex, if they had ever had venereal disease, etc. For approximately two hours they were given information about AIDS, and were told that they would have to wait for the results of the HIV test (T1 71-72, 123-4, 127). They were also told that they would have to take another test in six months, which they did (T172). Both HIV tests were negative (T1 86, 96).

On the following Monday, Plaintiffs took the bottle and cup to Parker's home. Barbara Parker's neighbor, who worked for the county medical examiner's office, sealed the bottle and cup in an evidence bag, and Parker's husband put it in a locked file cabinet (T121-2, 174-75). They never poured any more of the soda out of the Coke bottle (T1 91), nor did they ever remove the condom (T1 107). They had left the bottle on the desk at the school because it was not something that they wanted to

touch, and consequently did not take it with them to the hospital or to the health department (T1 95, 107).

Hagan explained that she did not visit her personal doctor after the incident because she had already been examined by the doctor at the emergency room, and then had had the HIV test at the health department (T1 96-98). In fact, she did not tell anyone else about the incident except her sister in Miami and her gynecologist, whom she saw some months later, because she was embarrassed, and was trying to "keep it private." (T1 70, 74, 77). She did not even tell her husband, from whom she was separated at the time, about it. Hagan explained that they were talking about reconciling at the time, and she found it humiliating to talk about the incident (T1 82). Regarding why Hagan told no one else, she explained that when she and her sister went to the hospital, the police officer, the doctor and the nurses were snickering, which offended her. "It made me feel small and hurt and shamed." (T1 78). She said that the others were grinning because the soda had a condom in it, taking it as being something funny and comical, while "it was humiliating to me." (T1 79). She told them that the matter was serious to her, and that their conduct was rude (T1 78).

Hagan and Parker decided not to discuss the incident with the other workers at the school because of their embarrassment (T178-79). Hagan found it humiliating when people grinned about her having drunk a soda with a condom in it, because she

did not think it was funny (T1 79). On the Monday after the incident, there was a report in the local paper which did not name names, but stated that two women had drunk a soda believed to contain a condom that they had bought at DeFord's Service Station. There was also a report about it on the radio. One of Hagan's co-workers mentioned that she had read the news article, and three or four times pointed at Hagan and said she wondered who the women were. Hagan felt that "she knew it was me. She just wanted me to admit it, but I didn't admit it' (T1 77-79). Hagan asked a friend about the radio report, and the friend thought the report was funny because it involved a condom. Hagan stated that her friend "didn't take it like I was taking it to mean, because it was affecting me." (T1 77-78). Due to the "smallness of Hastings," everybody knew about the incident and were talking about the article in the paper and the radio report that Hagan said "was really embarrassing to me." (T1 77, 81). She felt like everyone was grinning at the fact that she had drunk a soda with a condom in it (T1 79).

Hagan testified that the results of the second HIV test did not put her fears about her health to rest because the pamphlets that she had received from the health department indicated that a person with HIV can have it and not know it within a 7-year incubation period (T1 83-86). At the time of trial, Hagan had no illness or injury that she could attribute to the Coke bottle incident (T106).

Plaintiff Barbara Parker testified that she has a master's degree in education, and had been operating the Hastings Academy Day Care for about 16 years at the time of trial (T1 112-13). She recounted the details of the September 1992 incident (T1 115-16), and was absolutely certain that she broke the seal on the Coke bottle, observing that when the seals are loosened, they snap, and a ring loosens up between the cap and the bottle itself. She specifically remembered that the ring was attached to the cap when she received the bottle (T1 146). Parker was also absolutely sure that what she saw in the bottle was a condom (T1 128). She never poured the contents out of the bottle to check it out because there was no question in her mind about what was in the bottle (T1 128, 146). She stated that a large clunk of mucus and "stringy white stuff" extended from the base of the condom (T1 128, 132). It looked disgusting (T1 132). She hesitated telling her husband because "I was really apprehensive about sharing it, because I was really thinking about what he was -- how he was going to feel about it ----" (T1 117).

Immediately after the incident, Parker was concerned about her health, and about her relationship with her husband, and how he was going to feel after she told him (T1 118-119). Over the weekend after the incident, she spoke only with her husband and her mother and one of her sisters about it (T1 130). Her husband was

"really apprehensive" when they talked about it, and they continued to talk about the children and their future (T1 126).

Parker also did not tell her neighbors about the incident, and explained:

Well, again, one of my main concerns was that I just did not want it to get out into the community and be misunderstood or -- somehow sometimes when things get into the community, it's told one way and it's altogether different, so I didn't want to share it for that reason. And I don't want anybody to feel that I was sick or had some type of disease. You know, people tend to back away from you.

(T1 128). Parker was also upset because "the fact is that I run a day care and it's in Hastings and Hastings is very small. So, if the wrong information gets out in Hastings, I wouldn't have any children. It gets out very, very fast. I mean, you don't even have to have a telephone in Hastings; the information just gets out that fast." Parker figured that if the wrong information was circulated, she "could possibly lose children at my day care," because people were becoming more aware and frightened of different diseases, including AIDS (T1 118). She did not talk about the incident with her doctors because after the health department said that she did not have AIDS, she felt that if her physicians found or did not find something without the information about the condom in the Coke bottle, that information would be more accurate (T1 125-6).

Parker testified that she took AIDS tests in 1992 and 1993, and that at the time of trial she had no physical problems that related to the Coke incident in September 1992 (T1 142). However, at trial she stated that she still did not have peace of mind about the incident and about concerns regarding her health "because nobody really knows." (T1 147).

Barbara Parker's husband Willie F. Parker identified Joint Exhibit 1 as the empty Coke bottle and the white cup (T2 14-15), as well as the photographs of the bottle in the evidence bag before it was given to Katz (PX2, 3, 4; T2 19-20). He testified that on the day of the incident his wife came home very upset (T2 8). She was very upset as well after visiting the health department where the workers thought that her ordeal was funny (T2 10). She had been an even-keeled type of person, but after the incident she began to get up at various times during the night, which she had seldom done before (T2 11-13). Between the time of the first and second HIV tests, she wanted to make sure that things were in order regarding their children because she "could be gone tomorrow." Since then, Mr. Parker's wife has still expressed concerns regarding her health (T2 24). At the time of the incident, the Parkers had been married 13 or 14 years (T2 11), and Mr. Parker testified that they should have gotten some counseling after the incident because it upset their house "for a good while." They were not talking about the situation as they should have (T2 11). It put a hard

strain on him that was made harder because of things that were not said (T2 25). Previously, Barbara had been the type of person who would point out the things that they needed to do, but all of a sudden after the incident it was not like that anymore, although it had become better by the time of trial (T2 12). Mr. Parker also testified that he felt that Linda Hagan had been even more affected by the incident than his wife because she developed a nervous condition which she had to have taken care of (T2 26).

Photographs of the Coke bottle in the plastic evidence bag were identified at trial (PX2, 3; T1 144-145). The bottle, still inside the evidence bag, was later turned over to Plaintiffs' attorney (T1 134). On October 6, 1992 Barry Katz, at the time a sales representative for Coca-Cola Enterprises in Ft. Pierce (T1 25-26), went to the office of Plaintiff's attorney to pick up the bottle. He testified that he saw a bottle of Coke with something floating in it (T1 32), and identified one of Plaintiff's photographs (PX3) as an accurate photo of what he picked up that day (T1 42). After looking at the bottle for a minute or two (T1 54), Katz signed a receipt which stated "received of Donald N. Watson, Esquire, of Gary, Williams, Parenti, Finney & Lewis, the following evidence: "One (1) 10-ounce Coca-Cola bottle containing the unpoured portion of Coca-Cola and a white condom and a white plastic cup, and containing the poured portion of Coca-Cola. The above evidence is sealed individually in plastic."

(T1 36). Although Katz did not type the receipt, he was sure that he had read it, and did not question anything that was on it or tell the attorney that the receipt needed to be changed because it was not accurate (T1 37, 41). Katz never opened the bottle, or changed its packaging, and delivered it to people at Coca-Cola for testing (T1 38). He never saw the bottle again (T1 47).

Dr. Forrest Bayer, director of packaging in the Scientific and Regulatory Affairs Department of the Coca-Cola Company (T2 57), testified that in October 1992 he received the bottle and cup in the evidence bag, and visually inspected the bottle (T2 62-63). He saw a tannish-brown material floating near the neck of the bottle, which he at first thought was a condom (T2 63-64). After visually inspecting it, he instructed the laboratory analysis personnel to remove the sample from the bag, to take the foreign material out of the bottle, thoroughly inspect it, and then notify him of the results (T2 64-65). He went back to his office, and approximately 10 to 15 minutes later was called back to the laboratory by the analyst. Bayer stated that the foreign object turned out not to be a condom, but mold (T2 65). He determined that by visual inspection after the contents of the bottle had been poured into a beaker by the analyst. When Bayer re-entered the lab, the foreign material was floating on the top inside the beaker, and the analyst removed it with a pair of metal forceps (T2 66-67). It appeared to be a gelatinous-type mass, semi-solid and brown or tannish-brown,

with "sort of a rubbery texture to it." (T2 67). Bayer had the analyst take a piece of the sample and place it in a microscope, where it was identified as a mold (T2 67-68).

Bayer testified that assuming the product had been bottled in May 1992 and purchased on September 18, 1992, and for whatever reason had lost its carbonation, there would have been enough time for the mold to have formed in the product (T2) 70). Bayer stated that over a period of time the mold would form almost a solid coverage across the top of the neck of the bottle, and upon being disturbed it could break loose from the edges of the bottle and become free-floating so that it would orient itself in the "up" direction if the bottle was turned upside down, and vice versa (T2 71). Bayer stated that the sample was placed in a petri dish, which was placed in a refrigerator, locked and secured. He identified a petri dish with a brown material in it in evidence at trial as being a sample of the mold that was found in the Coke bottle (T2 72). Bayer opined that to a scientific certainty, the contents of the bottle was mold, not a condom (T2 74). Bayer's written report (DX1) stated that he received the sample in the laboratory on October 12, 1992 (T2 75-76).

On cross-examination, Bayer acknowledged that he was not personally present when the contents of the bottle were poured out into the beaker, but that the contents had already been poured into the beaker at the time he returned to the laboratory (T2)

80). He also acknowledged that one of Plaintiffs' photographs (PX4) showed the foreign object adhering to the bottom of the bottle, rather than floating on the surface (T2 82, 86). Further, no chemical tests were performed on the product (T2 83). The only test performed was visual observation and microscopic examination (T2 83). He never saw the receipt which Katz had signed (T2 79), and acknowledged that there was no identifying mark on the petri dish displayed at trial to indicate that it held the same object which had been taken out of the bottle (T2 84). While he affirmed that the sample had been placed in the refrigerator and locked, he could not state how long it had been kept there because he had been out of the department for several years and "I don't know what has transpired in the last few years with regards to sample retention." (T2 85). His report did not reflect the date on which the analysis had been conducted, and the fact that someone other than he had conducted the inspection (T2 85).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

³/Plaintiffs had no time to conduct their own chemical analysis. The incident occurred on September 18, 1992 (T2 70), the bottle was given to Coca-Cola (via Katz) for analysis by Defendant on October 6, 1992 (T1 35), then totally emptied and retained by Defendant (T2 85).

Plaintiffs urge that the physical injury requirement of the impact rule be abolished pursuant to the issue certified to this Court by the Fifth District Court of Appeal. The impact aspect of the impact rule is not really at issue here, because it is clearly satisfied by the fact of ingesting a foreign substance in food. While most jurisdictions have abolished the impact aspect of the impact rule, most jurisdictions still require proof of physical injury. However, there is a growing trend, including at least 14 jurisdictions, against the retention of that requirement, and writings by legal scholars are unanimous that it should be abolished. Maintaining the physical injury requirement ignores advances in medical and psychological science. The task of a court or jury in a case of negligent infliction of emotional distress in assessing the verity of damages does not differ at all from the task which they already have faced in determining mental distress damages in cases alleging negligent defamation or invasion of privacy, or in independent tort cases where the physical injury is slight.

The Fifth District was incorrect in deciding that Plaintiffs had failed to demonstrate proof sufficient to entitle them to damages for the fear of developing AIDS. Drinking from a Coke bottle containing a used condom with apparent semen oozing from it is the equivalent of oral sex, which is a well-recognized channel of transmission of the HIV virus.

ARGUMENT

THE PHYSICAL INJURY REQUIREMENT OF THE IMPACT RULE SHOULD BE ABOLISHED

Introduction

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