IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC00-287

LINDA HAGAN, BARBARA PARKER, and WILLIE PARKER,

Petitioners,

VS.

FLORIDA COCA-COLA BOTTLING COMPANY, ST. AUGUSTINE COCA-COLA BOTTLING COMPANY, and COCA-COLA ENTERPRISES, INC.,

ON CERTIFICATION OF A QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE BY THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ADORNO & ZEDER, P.A. Raoul G. Cantero, III Gregory A. Victor 2601 South Bayshore Drive Suite 1600 Miami, Florida 33133 (305) 858-5555

June 30, 2000 Attorneys for Respondents

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

Humana, 652 So. 2d at 363. The impact rule assures the validity of such claims. *Id.* As this Court has emphasized, however, the reasons for the rule extend even further:

[t]here is more underlying the impact doctrine than simply problems of proof, fraudulent claims, and excessive litigation. The impact doctrine gives practical recognition to the thought that not every injury which one person may by his negligence inflict upon another should be compensated in money damages. There must be some level of harm which one should absorb without recompense as the price he pays for living in an organized society.

Gonzalez, 651 So. 2d at 675 (quoting Stewart v. Gilliam, 271 So. 2d 466, 477 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972) (Reed, C.J., dissenting), quashed, 291 So. 2d 593 (Fla. 1974)).

As further explained below, (1) although Florida courts have been willing to liberalize the "impact" requirement of the impact rule, they have continued to require physical injury in almost all cases; (2) Florida courts applying the impact rule in cases based on the fear of contracting a disease have required a disease or illness accompanying the emotional distress; and (3) Florida courts considering food ingestion cases also have required a physical injury.

1) Although Florida courts have been willing to relax the impact rule as it relates to actual "impact," they have been much more reluctant to relax the requirement of a physical injury associated with any emotional distress

Although the impact rule remains strong, this Court has created exceptions to the rule in certain narrow circumstances. For example, the rule does not apply to *intentional* infliction of emotional distress, *see Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. v. McCarson*, 467 So. 2d 277 (Fla. 1985); to claims for wrongful birth, *see Kush v. Lloyd*, 616 So. 2d 415, 422 (Fla. 1992); or to claims for stillbirth, *see Tanner*, 696 So. 2d at 708.

Florida courts also have relaxed the requirements of an impact, so that the impact requirement is easy to satisfy.² *See, e.g., Way v. Tampa Coca-Cola Bottling Co.*, 260 So. 2d 288 (Fla. 2d DCA 1972) (finding impact upon ingestion of food, even though the foreign object was not ingested).

While this Court has relaxed the *impact* aspect of the rule, however, it is much more reluctant to relax the *physical injury* requirement. In *Gonzalez*, for example, decided just five years ago, this Court refused to allow emotional distress damages resulting from the negligent mishandling of a corpse without some physical injury. This Court warned that "[t]he consequences of such an exception are too far reaching in a modern society where it is recognized that not all wrongs can be compensated

² In fact, this requirement may be so easy to meet that for practical purposes it no longer exists. The concurring justice in *Humana* thought the majority opinion may have tacitly eliminated the impact requirement altogether. *See Humana*, 652 So. 2d at 365-66 (Kogan, J., specially concurring).

through litigation or the courts." 651 So. 2d at 676.³ This Court therefore saw "no justification to recede from the long standing decisions of this Court in this area." *Id.* Also, in *Humana*, decided the same day as *Gonzalez*, the Court held that damages for emotional harm resulting from a misdiagnosis of HIV infection cannot be recovered without some physical injury. 652 So. 2d at 362. The Court warned that creating an exception in such a case would negatively affect many aspects of health care, and would make it difficult to limit speculative claims. *Id.* at 363-64. Finally, in *Champion v. Gray*, 478 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 1985), this Court relaxed the impact requirement to allow recovery for the psychological trauma caused from observing the death of a close family member, but still required a *physical* injury. The Court noted,

We perceive that the public policy of this state is to compensate for *physical* injuries, with attendant lost wages, and physical and mental suffering *which flow from the consequences of the physical injuries*. For this purpose we are willing to modify the impact rule, but are unwilling to expand it to purely subjective and speculative damages for psychic trauma alone.

Id. at 20 (emphases added). See also Brown v. Cadillac Motor Car Div., 468 So. 2d903 (Fla. 1985) (refusing to recognize a cause of action for psychological trauma

³ This Court also noted that only rare cases involve mental disturbance not severe enough to cause physical harm but serious enough to deserve redress. *Id.* at 676 (citing *Prosser and Keeton on the Law of Torts*, § 54, at 362 (5th ed. 1984)).

resulting from witnessing a parent's death without a demonstrable physical injury); *Zell*, 665 So. 2d at 1054 (reaffirming *Champion*'s physical injury requirement).

The Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers, as *amicus* for Plaintiffs, attempt to distinguish between "direct victim" cases and bystander cases (br. at 6-10). The Trial Lawyers argue that only the bystander cases require a physical injury. This argument overlooks *Humana* and *Gonzalez*, both of which were direct victim cases. One involved a negligent diagnosis of a positive HIV infection; the other, the negligent handling of a corpse. *See* 652 So. 2d at 363; 651 So. 2d at 675. In both cases, this Court re-affirmed the physical injury requirement, and denied recovery because no physical injury occurred.

2) Florida courts that have considered claims based on the fear of contracting a disease also have required some associated physical injury or illness

Until the district court's decision in this case, no Florida court had considered the impact rule in the context of a fear-of-AIDS claim. Cases applying the rule to claims asserting a fear of developing cancer, however, have required a disease or illness attributable to the exposure.⁴ In *Eagle-Picher Industries v. Cox*, 481 So. 2d

⁴ Courts considering fear-of-AIDS cases have cited fear-of-cancer cases as persuasive. *See De Milio v. Schrager*, 666 A.2d 627 (N.J. Super. 1995); *Kerins v. Hartley*, 33 Cal. Rptr. 2d 172, 178-79 (Ct. App. 1994); *Neal v. Neal*, 873 P.2d 881, 887 (Idaho Ct. App. 1993), *aff'd in part, rev'd in part*, 873 P.2d 871 (Idaho 1994); *Johnson v. West Virginia Univ. Hosp.*, 413 S.E.2d 889 (W. Va. 1991); *Burk v. Sage Products, Inc.*, 747 F.Supp. 285 (E.D. Pa. 1990).

517 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), the court concluded that a plaintiff exposed to asbestos must develop asbestosis or some other disease to recover for fear of contracting cancer. Cox, 481 So. 2d at 527-28 (citing Devlin v. Johns-Manville Sales Corp., 495 A.2d 495 (N.J. Super. 1985) and *Mink v. University of Chicago*, 460 F. Supp. 713, 716 n.2 (N.D. Ill. 1978)). The court allowed the claim because the plaintiff had developed asbestosis. The court expressed concern, however, that allowing "fear of" claims without a showing of physical injury would open a Pandora's box of emotional distress claims:5 "Permitting an action for fear of cancer where there has been no physical injury from the asbestos would likely devastate the court system as well as the defendant manufacturers." 481 So. 2d at 528. The court noted that the physical injury requirement ensures that only genuine claims are permitted: "While this requirement might preclude some plaintiffs with actual fear from bringing suit, it seems to us justified by the fact that the judicial system could not handle the potential mere exposure 'fear of' claims, and the task of discerning fraudulent 'fear of' claims from meritorious ones would be prodigious." Id. at 529. In Landry v. Fla. Power & Light Corp., 799 F. Supp. 94, 96 (S.D. Fla. 1992), a federal court, applying Florida law, followed Cox in similar circumstances. The court denied the claim, however, because the plaintiff had developed no illness.

⁵ In Greek mythology, the gods gave Pandora a box in which each god placed something harmful. They instructed her never to open the box, but her curiosity overcame her. When she opened it, plagues, sorrow, and mischief escaped. Edith Hamilton, *Mythology* 88 (1942).

3) Florida courts that have considered claims for emotional distress based on the ingestion of a foreign substance in <u>food also have required some associated physical injury</u>

Florida cases imposing liability where consumers ingested a foreign substance in a food product similarly have involved physical injuries. 6 See Food Fair Stores of Florida v. Macurda, 93 So. 2d 860 (Fla. 1957) (affirming award to plaintiffs who found worms in their spinach and suffered from vomiting, abdominal pains, and diarrhea over a three-day period, and acknowledging the rule that damages for mental distress will not be awarded absent physical injury); Miami Coca-Cola Bottling Co. v. Todd, 101 So. 2d 34, 35 (Fla. 1958) (requiring that a plaintiff become ill from a "foreign substance" in the drink); Waddell v. Shoney's, Inc., 664 So. 2d 1134 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) (pregnant woman drank water contaminated with chlorine cleaning solution, began vomiting and experienced untimely uterine contractions); Way, 260 So. 2d at 288 (allowing recovery to plaintiff who began vomiting when he discovered a rat in his drink, but warning that the court did not "express an opinion in those cases where there is neither physical impact nor any objective physical symptom").

Plaintiffs cite *no* ingestion case imposing liability for emotional distress in the absence of physical symptoms. Instead, they argue (br. at 19-22) that in *Doyle v*.

⁶ As explained in Section III below, and as the district court found, 750 So. 2d at 87, Plaintiffs did not seek damages based on the ingestion of the Coke alone; their entire claim was based on the resulting fear that they would contract AIDS.

Pillsbury Co., 476 So. 2d 1271 (Fla. 1985), this Court held that the impact rule does not apply to food ingestion cases. Neither *Doyle* nor cases interpreting it support such an interpretation. In *Doyle*, the plaintiff observed a contaminant in a food product, but did not ingest the food. The plaintiff fell over a chair, however, and sustained physical injuries. The issue was whether ingestion of the food product was required to impose liability. This Court ruled that it was. Id. at 1272. The Court never addressed the issue here: whether ingestion alone, without physical injury, is sufficient to create liability. Any other statement in *Doyle* was dictum.

Since *Doyle*, no Florida court has held that ingestion alone is sufficient to award emotional distress damages in a food ingestion case. Moreover, although several cases have cited *Doyle*, none has cited it as standing for that proposition. See e.g., Kush, 616 So. 2d at 422 (denying recovery where injury occurs by merely observing a traumatic event, citing *Doyle*); *Humana*, 652 So. 2d at 363 (holding that impact must occur before recovery for emotional damages, citing *Doyle*); *Sguros v. Biscayne Rec.* Dev. Co., 528 So. 2d 376, 378 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (holding that an injury induced by mere observance of a traumatic event is insufficient to meet the impact requirement, citing Doyle); King v. Eastern Airlines, Inc., 536 So. 2d 1023, 1037 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (noting that the impact rule applies in Florida, citing Doyle), quashed in part on other grounds, 557 So. 2d 574 (Fla. 1990); Ruttger Hotel Corp. v. Wagner, 691 So. 2d 1177, 1179 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997) (denying recovery absent an impact); Diaz v.

Eastern Airlines, 698 F. Supp. 18, 21 (D. P.R. 1988) (hold that no cause of action exists for emotional distress absent an impact).

Plaintiffs also argue (br. at 21 n.4) that "Doyle is consistent with long-standing case law which has held canners of food and bottlers of cold drinks to be bound by a rule of absolute liability by implied warranty." The only case Plaintiffs cite, however, is Todd, 101 So. 2d at 35. In that case, the plaintiff became ill from a foreign substance contained in the drink. Therefore, that case, too, involved physical injuries.

Allowing recovery of emotional distress damages in food ingestion cases without some accompanying physical illness or injury would open in food ingestion cases the same Pandora's Box that Florida courts have kept closed in fear-of-disease cases. See Cox, 481 So. 2d at 528. The rule requiring physical injury in such cases is already liberal enough; it requires only vomiting or some other physical reaction to the food. See Waddell, 664 So. 2d at 1134 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) (allowing recovery where plaintiff displayed vomiting, diarrhea, cramps, and multiple contractions). Some cases involve such de minimis reactions, however, that a citizen should expect to "absorb [them] without recompense as the price he pays for living in an organized society." Gonzalez, 651 So. 2d at 675. See, e.g., Landry, 799 F. Supp. at 97 (denying recovery where the symptoms were loss of sleep, excessive intestinal gas, anxiety and depression); Ledford v. Delta Airlines, Inc., 658 F. Supp. 540, 542 (S.D. Fla. 1987) (denying recovery where the symptoms were temporary elevation of blood pressure,

crying episodes, panic attacks and a fear of heart attack); Wagner, 691 So. 2d at 1179 (psychological stress resulting from robbery, which aggravated diabetes, was insufficient physical injury).

The Trial Lawyers argue (br. at 17 & n.22) that even the requirement of some minimal physical manifestation, such as vomiting, is too burdensome and not probative of a genuine claim because such symptoms can be easily faked. To the contrary, vomiting and abdominal cramps provide an indicia that such claims are genuine; potential plaintiffs finding foreign objects in their food are unlikely to induce vomiting simply to substantiate a claim for damages. At least, physical symptoms are less easily faked than emotional distress alone, such as a nebulous "fear" of contracting a disease or "disgust." The minimal physical manifestation requirement provides some filter, however porous, against spurious claims. The argument that the filter for claims is too porous, as the Trial Lawyers imply, does not dictate removal of the filter. Rather than strengthen the filter, the Trial Lawyers' proposal would eliminate any remaining protection against speculative claims.

В. Most states require physical injury for recovery of damages for negligent infliction of emotional distress

Abrogation of the impact requirement will likely not affect the decision in this case. As this Court noted in *Gonzalez*, 651 So. 2d at 674, and as Plaintiffs concede (br. at 23-25), although the majority of jurisdictions no longer require an impact, they

still require a physical injury, either upon impact or later. See, e.g., Hancock v. Northcutt, 808 P.2d 251, 257-58 (Alaska 1991); DeStories v. City of Phoenix, 744 P.2d 705, 709-10 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1897); M.B.M. Co. v. Counce, 596 S.W.2d 681, 684-87 (Ark. 1980); Garrison v. Med. Center of Delaware, 581 A.2d 288 (Del. 1989); Lee v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., et al., 517 S.E.2d 328 (Ga. Ct. App. 1999); Black Canyon Racquetball Club, Inc. v. Idaho First Nat. Bank, 804 P.2d 900 (Idaho 1991); Shuambert v. Henderson, 579 N.E.2d 452, 456 (Ind. 1991); Mills v. Guthrie County Rural Electric Co., 454 N.W.2d 846 (Iowa 1990); Anderson v. Scheffler, 752 P.2d 667, 669 (Kan. 1988); Deutsch v. Shein, 597 S.W.2d 141 (Ky. 1980); Payton v. Abbott Labs, 437 N.E.2d 171 (Mass. 1982); Chowdhry v. NLVH, Inc., 851 P.2d 459, 462 (Nev. 1993); Thorpe v. State Dept. of Corrections, 575 A.2d 351 (N.H. 1990); Hammond v. Central Lane Comm. Center, 816 P.2d 593, 597 (Or. 1991); Houston v. Texaco, Inc., 538 A.2d 502 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1988); Naccash v. Burger, 290 S.E.2d 825 (Va. 1982); Fitzgerald v. Congelton, 583 A.2d 595 (Vt. 1990); Meracle v. Children's Serv. Soc. of Wisconsin, 437 N.W.2d 532 (Wis. 1989). The district court also noted that even courts that no longer require an impact still require physical injury. See Hagan, 750 So. 2d at 89 (citing cases). As one justice noted in Humana, over thirty states require some physical injury. See 652 So. 2d at 365 (Kogan, J., specially concurring). Courts retain the physical injury requirement because mental anguish without physical consequences is "so temporary, so evanescent, and so relatively

harmless that the task of compensating for it would unduly burden defendants and the courts." *Payton*, 437 N.E.2d at 178. Florida is consistent with the majority rule in continuing to require a physical injury, which was concededly *absent* in this case.

Because Plaintiffs concede that only 14 jurisdictions have abolished the physical injury requirement (br. at 25), Coca-Cola refrains from an exhaustive analysis of the law. Rather, it demonstrates that even the few states that have abolished the physical injury requirement have witnessed a smorgasbord of trivial claims, and many have therefore reconsidered their abrogation of the rule.

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